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) 
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The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the claimant’s claim for death benefits on June 23, 2009 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Joseph Kalamarides represented the Estate of Angie M. Gast (claimant).  Attorney Daniel Cadra represented the State of Alaska (employer).  Noel Gast, Registered Nurse Ellen Wilson, Robin Bumgardner, and Paul Blocher, M.D., testified at the hearing for the claimant.  Internist Alvin Thompson, M.D., testified at the hearing for the employer.  The record was left open for the claimant’s supplemental affidavit of attorney fees and costs, which was submitted on June 25, 2009.  The record closed on the next hearing date, June 30, 2009.

ISSUES
The claimant contends treatment Angie M. Gast (Ms. Gast) received for her work -related low back, left shoulder and carpal tunnel syndrome (CTS), was a substantial factor in her death.  The claimant maintains  medications Ms. Gast  received for her work injuries  either caused her necrotic/ischemic 

bowel condition which led to her death or masked symptoms she was having, preventing timely treatment.  The employer maintains the preponderance of evidence proves the work injuries were not a substantial factor causing Ms. Gast’s death.

1. Did Ms. Gast’s death arise from and in the course of her employment with employer?

2. Is the claimant entitled to attorney fees and costs?


FINDINGS OF FACT
The following facts are established in review of the entire record, by a preponderance of the evidence:

1. Ms. Gast was employed with the State of Alaska for many years as an evidence custodian for the Alaska State Troopers, and reported several injuries in the course and scope of her employment there.

2. Ms. Gast suffered three injuries at work to her back: the first on December 28, 1992
 to her tail bone; the second on November 16, 1995 to her low back;
 and the third on January 23, 1998;
 when she lifted a box with a twisting motion and felt a burning pain in her low back.  

3. Ms Gast was seen at the Mat-Su Regional Hospital Medical Center (MRHMC) emergency room (ER) on January 25, 1998, and diagnosed with back pain secondary to strain, with a reported history of underlying osteoarthritis.
  A magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) study performed on January 28, 1998, showed normal appearance of the lumbar spine and sacroiliac joints.
  She was treated with medication and physical therapy initially.  On February 6, 1998, the physical therapist (PT) noted Ms. Gast was complaining of pain radiating down her posterior right leg.
   David Werner, M.D., Ms. Gast’s doctor in Palmer, Alaska, referred her to J. Michael James, M.D., of the Alaska Spine Institute.
  

4. On February 25, 1998, Ms. Gast was seen by Dr. James, who performed right lower extremity electrodiagnostic testing that showed a mild L5 radiculopathy.
  Dr. James diagnosed low back pain and mild right L5 radiculopathy.
  Ms. Gast was treated with medication and underwent a translaminar epidural steroid injection and a right L5 selective root block on March 26, 1998.
  Subsequently, she was treated with medication, physical therapy and acupuncture.
  On October 15, 1998, Dr. James stated Ms. Gast was medically stable and performed a permanent partial impairment rating, using the AMA Guides, 4th ed.,
 placing her in DRE Lumbosacral Category III, which is a 10% impairment of the whole person.
  The employer paid Ms. Gast the PPI benefits for a 10% PPI rating on October 28, 1998.

5. Subsequently Ms. Gast continued to have low back pain with right lower extremity radiculopathy.  She was treated with medication and facet nerve blocks from 2000 through 2004.
  

6. On August 11, 2003 a discography computerized tomography (CT) of the lumbar spine was performed which showed an annular tear at both L5-S1 and L4-L5, as well as mild disc degeneration at L3-L4.
  

7. She suffered additional injuries, including a fall at home on September 23, 2003, when her right leg gave out and she fell on her right hip, causing a recurrence of her previous symptoms.
  On March 8, 2004, Ms. Gast fell on the ice, resulting in increased pain in the low back with radiation to the right leg.
  Dr. James diagnosed a lumbar strain superimposed on the previous symptoms, chronic discogenic low back pain and chronic right L5 radiculopathy, as well as anxiety and depression.
  

8. On May 17, 2004, Ms. Gast was evaluated by Paul Craig, PhD/Clinical Psychologist.
  Dr. Craig diagnosed a chronic dysthmic disorder, anxiety disorder, and chronic pain disorder associated with both psychological factors and a general medical condition.  He recommended involvement of a mental health professional to augment her medical care.  Dr. Craig opined Ms. Gast’s psychiatric condition was delaying her recovery.
  

9. On November 10, 2004, Dr. James performed a discogram, and the results were positive at L4-L5, positive and less significant pain reproduction at L5-S1, and negative at L3-L4.  Ms. Gast continued to suffer from and be treated for low back pain until her death.

10. On August 9, 2001, Ms. Gast injured her left shoulder while trying to open a banker box containing evidence.
  She initially felt a burning pain in her left arm.  Subsequently she was diagnosed by Charles Kase, M.D., with chronic impingement syndrome of the left shoulder with possible early rotator cuff tear, and underwent acromioplasty surgery performed by Dr. Kase to repair her left shoulder on April 11, 2003.
  On August 13, 2003, Ms. Gast saw Dr. Kase for followup, at which time he noted she had full range of motion of the shoulder, no impingement, and good rotator cuff strength.
  Dr. Kase continued to follow Ms. Gast for her left shoulder.

11.   In September 2003, Dr. Kase opined Ms. Gast would reach medical stability in about 6 weeks.
  In October 2003 and February and May of 2004, she had continued left shoulder pain and was treated with medication, physical therapy and injections.

12. Dr. Gritzka examined Ms. Gast on August 26, 2004 at the request of the employer.
  He diagnosed her left shoulder condition as follows:

(1) status post left shoulder acromioplasty for near type III acromion, with secondary impingement syndrome.

a.  Probable post surgical bone spurs, residual left anterior acromion; probable nodule consistent with retained nonabsorbable suture.  

b.  Rule out diastatic or disruption of the deltoid ligament repair left shoulder.

Dr. Gritzka opined Ms. Gast required minor revision surgery to her left shoulder, followed by physical therapy to restore the range of motion.
  

13. Ms. Gast developed pain in her hands and wrists as a result of several years of using a keyboard while performing data entry for the employer, and she filed an Occupational Injury and Illness Report on September 11, 2003.
  The Physician’s Report of March 31, 2004 stated Ms. Gast had carpal tunnel on both hands, caused by continuous data entry on a computer keyboard from 1990 to 2003.

14. On April 27, 2004, Ms. Gast was seen by Dr. James for electrodiagnostic testing at Dr. Kase’ request.
  Dr. James diagnosed moderately severe right CTS as well as mild chronic right C7 radiculopathy, which constitutes “double crush syndrome.”
  Dr. James also diagnosed mild left CTS.
  

15. Dr. Kase performed surgery to release Ms. Gast’s right carpal ligament on December 7, 2004,
 and referred her to physical therapy on December 20, 2004. 

16. On July 12, 2005, Dr. Kase performed surgery for Ms. Gast’s left carpal tunnel syndrome.
  Ms. Gast began physical therapy for the left hand on July 25, 2005.
  On August 4, 2005, Dr. Kase noted Ms. Gast was doing well post operatively and could fully oppose her thumb had good two-point discrimination.

17. On July 11, 2005
 and on July 18, 2005, Dr. Kase prescribed Percocet
 5/325 and Motrin 800mg for Ms. Gast.  On July 27, 2005, he prescribed Vicodin ES.

18. On August 11, 2005, Ms. Gast had an MRI of her left shoulder because of complaints of shoulder pain.

19. On August 14, 2005, Ms. Gast’s son took her to the ER at Elmendorf Air Force Base Hospital, and she reported a stomach ache and vomiting to Ray Legenza, M.D.
  Dr. Legenza noted Ms. Gast was slow to respond to questions, was a poor historian, and appeared obtunded.
  Her medications were listed as Protonix,
 Anexsia,
 Flexeril,
 Cymbalta,
 Quinine, Cozaar, Corgard
 and Lorazepam.
  A urine drug screen was positive for opiates and tricyclic antidepressants, and Ms. Gast was taking opiates, or narcotic analgesics.

20. Surgeon Scott Russi, M.D., noted Ms. Gast presented to the ER with mental status changes and a positive drug screen.
  The administration of Narcan unmasked abdominal findings, and she was transferred to the intensive care unit (ICU).  The decision was made to perform surgery, and the surgeons found a necrotic colon with the point of greatest necrosis at the splenic flexure and lesser necrosis extending the middle colic and left colic arteries.  The cecum had areas of patchy necrosis as did the gallbladder.  The splenic flexure was adhered to the spleen by multiple dense adhesions, and the peritoneal cavity was full of reactive foul smelling fluid.  No source or cause of the colon necrosis was identified during exploration.  Much of the colon, and the gall bladder and spleen were removed.
  

21. On August 16, 2005, Ms. Gast was returned to surgery for evaluation of her remaining intestine and intra-abdominal organs.
  The remaining colon was necrotic and was removed, as was the distal small bowel, ileum and jejunum, leaving only 160cm of bowel and the rectum.
  On August 18, 2005, Ms. Gast was again taken to surgery for evaluation of the viability of the remaining bowel, which was found viable, with no further evidence of bowel necrosis.
  On August 25, 2005, Dr. Russi again operated to assess the remaining bowel, which was found viable.
  After return to the ICU, Ms. Gast was taken off the ventilator on August 27, 2005.
  Ms. Gast did well for awhile, although she did not follow commands.  On the evening of August 28, 2005, her condition deteriorated and she died despite attempts to resuscitate her.

22. Donald Trummel, M.D., prepared an August 29, 2005 autopsy report.
  The cause of death was a catastrophic bowel necrosis, etiology undetermined.  Ms. Gast had an extensive bowel necrosis that progressed to involve nearly the entire bowel, and ultimately caused her death.  Flow studies performed during surgery did not suggest a vascular blockage, and dissection of the major abdominal arteries at autopsy revealed no evidence of thromboembolus.  Histologic sections from resected segments revealed a transmural necrotic process without a definitive etiology.  The case was sent to the Armed Forces Institute of Pathology for an expert opinion, and the opinion was an etiology could not be established with certainty.

23. The record reveals Ms. Gast had past abdominal and pelvic surgeries, including a hysterectomy in 1991, and separate oophorectomies, one in September 1994,
 and one in 1995.
  These surgeries were not related to her work injuries.

24. On January 30, 2007, Paul Blocher, M.D., reviewed Ms. Gast’s medical records and noted the pain Ms. Gast suffered from her multiple work injuries and resultant musculoskeletal problems, and opined the resultant pain would have necessitated the regular use of opiate pain medications, to which she would have been addicted.  He further opined it is well known opiate pain medications paralyze bowel function, slowing peristalsis and bowel transit time, and cause obstipation and bowel distention, a process which could have contributed to bowel strangulation with intestinal blood supply acutely shut off.  Dr. Blocher maintained the bowel stasis and ischemia and bacterial growth created by this situation acted to precipitate bowel death and the complications that eventually caused her death.  In addition, Dr. Blocher opined the regular use of narcotics would have masked the severity of the moderate to severe abdominal pain, delaying her getting to timely medical attention which might have saved her life.  He also postulated the altered lumbosacral nerve function caused by Ms. Gast’s many work related injuries could also have had some effect on her bowel motility and status.  Finally, he maintained it was clear Ms. Gast’s work injuries and the catastrophic abdominal events were directly and indirectly related.

25. Dr. Blocher also opined the work injuries also caused Ms. Gast to become inactive physically, dependent on narcotic and muscle relaxant medication, slowing her metabolism, so that she added body weight, and also ultimately developed a serious complication of ischemic bowel.
  He maintained the forced inactivity and associated changes in eating habits and lifestyle and the slowing of bowel function under the influence of narcotics and muscle relaxants fostered the development of bowel ischemia, which in turn brought on the acute abdomen, peritoneal sepsis, septic shock and ultimately death.  Thus, he opined the work injuries and treatment for those work injuries were substantial factors in the cause of death.

26. In his May 16, 2007 report, Dr. Blocher opined Ms. Gast’s death occurred as a result of adhesions from her prior abdominal surgeries, which can compress, constrict and/or strangle loops of bowel, acting to interfere with the blood supply to and peristaltic function of the large and small intestinal tracts, in combination with the narcotic medication she was taking, which masked the associated symptoms of impending bowel infarction later.
  He opined this scenario, in concert with her narcotic, muscle relaxant and anti-inflammatory medication, forced sedentary lifestyle, slowed metabolism, and possible contribution from compromised lumbo-sacral nerve tracts, set the stage for Ms. Gast’s bowel catastrophe in August 2005.
  Dr. Blocher disagreed with Dr. Thompson’s (see below, item #30) opinion Ms. Gast’s death was the result of autoimmune disease, asserting there was no evidence of autoimmune disease in the medical record, including the pathology reports or autopsy report.

27. Dr. Blocher testified at hearing consistent with his written reports.  He testified there was no evidence of a fecal impaction when bowel surgery was done, because the impaction would have dissipated when the bowel perforated.

28. After reviewing Dr. Blocher’s January 30, 2007 report, Dr. Thompson opined both the processes Dr. Blocher postulated as causing Ms. Gast’s death were extremely unlikely to have caused the extensive small and large bowel “subendothelial fibroid necrosis and vascular inflammation” found at surgery and autopsy.

29. Dr. Blocher is not credible,
 based on his lack of qualifications, including lack of specialty board certification in internal medicine or gastroenterology, and the fact he last actually actively treated patients in 1979 in the military and has never been licensed to practice medicine in any state.
  

30. On February 15, 2007, at the request of the employer, internist Alvin Thompson, M.D., performed an employer’s medical evaluation (EME).
  Dr. Thompson maintained the cause of Ms. Gast’s death was ischemic bowel with acute systemic inflammatory response (ASIR) syndrome and multiorgan dysfunction, unrelated to the work injuries.
  He opined it was extremely unlikely the pain medications Ms. Gast was taking for her work injuries masked the symptoms of intestinal blockage, causing a fatal delay in seeking treatment, because Ms. Gast repeatedly sought medical treatment in a timely fashion for many symptoms and pains.  He further opined there is no relationship Ms. Gast’s ASIR syndrome with multiorgan dysfunction and her work injuries.  Dr. Thompson maintained Ms. Gast’s diagnoses of ASIR with multiorgan failure was related to an undefined autoimmune or rheumatologic syndrome.

31. After reviewing Dr. Blocher’s January 30, 2007 report, Dr. Thompson opined both the processes Dr. Blocher postulated as causing Ms. Gast’s death were extremely unlikely to have caused the extensive small and large bowel “subendothelial fibroid necrosis and vascular inflammation” found at surgery and autopsy.

32. On June 27, 2007, Dr. Thompson first concurred with Dr. Blocher’s opinion Ms. Gast’s multiple abdominal surgeries very likely fostered adhesions which could interfere with the blood supply and peristaltic function of the bowel.
  Dr. Thompson also opined although serologic studies were not diagnostic of an immune system abnormality, “the leucopenia, the thrombosis of her left ring finger, the diffuse visceral necrosis involving even the gall bladder, the visceral vascular necrosis of arterioles and venules” made an underlying autoimmune condition the more likely cause of the catastrophic abdominal event.

33. At hearing, Dr. Thompson testified if there had been an impaction, it would have been evident at the time of the first surgery.  Dr. Thompson specifically disputed Dr. Blocher’s testimony any fecal impaction might have dissipated when the bowel perforated so as not to be visible at surgery.

34. Dr. Thompson is credible,
 based on his qualifications as an internist and many years in the practice of gastroenterology, as well as academic appointments as clinical and associate professor of medicine at the University of Washington in Seattle.

35. On October 17, 2007, at the Board’s request, internist and gastroenterologist Kenneth Hammerman, M.D., performed a second independent medical evaluation (SIME). 
  Dr. Hammerman opined Ms. Gast’s death was a consequence of multi-organ failure precipitated by the infarction of her large and small bowel for which she was hospitalized on August 14, 2005.  Dr. Hammerman noted Dr. Blocher’s opinion the narcotic medications Ms. Gast was taking slowed her intestinal motility, leading to severe constipation with impaction, and abdominal distention, and eventually intestinal ischemia.  However, Dr. Hammerman maintained while such a scenario is possible, there was no evidence that such a chain of events occurred in Ms. Gast’s case.  He noted there was no evidence of a grossly distended abdomen or fecal impaction at surgery.  He further opined Dr. Blocher’s explanations were not at all credible.  He maintained Ms. Gast suffered some form of acute vascular occlusion, although the precise nature of the occlusion remains unclear.  He opined the precise mechanism which led to her intestinal ischemia is not clear.  Dr. Hammerman opined in the absence of arteriosclerotic disease or vasculitis, some embolic or low flow phenomenon would be the most likely explanation.  In either event, he maintained these would not be related to her work injuries nor to any of the medications she received for her work injures.  Dr. Hammerman opined Ms. Gast’s treatment regimens were all related to pain control and surgeries or interventions for her musculoskeletal problems, and there were no procedures which would have had any effect on intestinal blood flow.  Dr. Hammerman maintained there was no connection between Ms. Gast’s injuries, treatment and the condition which caused her August 14, 2005 hospitalization and her ultimate death.  He noted over the month prior to her death she had been prescribed 60 Percocet and 30 Vicodin and if she had used them as prescribed, would have averaged about 3 tablets per day, well within conventional dosing schedule.  He concluded she was never abusing her medications, and it would be highly unlikely she would have had sufficient analgesia to have masked abdominal pain due to intestinal ischemia as this tends to be an extremely severe pain.  In addition, Dr. Hammerman noted the medical records indicated as recently as one month prior to her death, Ms. Gast was still receiving injections and other treatments for her chronic neck and back pain.  Therefore, he concluded there was no information her use of narcotic medications masked her abdominal pain so that she delayed seeking medical treatment.  He opined Ms. Gast’s altered mental status noted in the emergency room records was most likely due to hypotension and acidosis.  Finally, Dr. Hammerman opined the most likely explanation for the abdominal catastrophe was an embolus which might have broken up, dislodged, or dissolved after the ischemia had ensured.

36. Dr. Hammerman is credible,
 based on his expertise in gastroenterology, as evidenced by his 1977 board certification in that specialty, his practice in that specialty over many years, and his appointment from 1985 to the present as an associate clinical professor of medicine at the University of California, San Francisco.

37. Mr. Noel Gast testified Ms. Gast suffered from a great deal of pain from her work injuries.  He testified on the weekend prior to August 14, 2005, Ms. Gast complained of stomach problems, and on the 14th, she experienced increasing pain, and her abdomen was bloated.  Mr. Gast also testified Ms. Gast had been suffering from constipation, could go two to three days without a bowel movement, and her stools were often like bricks.  He testified she used Metamucil for constipation and also stopped drinking coffee, which helped.  He further testified just before her August 14, 2005 hospitalization, Ms. Gast was constipated, bloated, and in pain.  Mr. Gast testified although Ms. Gast had seen doctors, they did not find anything.  He testified he could not remember if Ms. Gast had a bowel movement in the two to three days prior to her August 14, 2005 hospital admission.  He testified she did take her medications during this time, but he could not state for sure which ones.  He testified after she was admitted to the hospital on August 14, 2005, she was given medication to override the pain medication.

38. Mr. Gast testified he felt medications began “taking over” in January of 2005.  He testified he noticed a difference in how Ms. Gast functioned, that she fell asleep easily, and drank more.  He testified she “wasn’t my wife anymore.”  He testified she was increasingly depressed and withdrawn starting in January 2005.  Mr. Gast further testified Ms. Gast was in trouble with the police three times for driving under the influence from January 2005 until the summer of 2005, after which she could no longer drive.  Mr. Gast testified he complained to Ms. Gast’s doctors about her medications, mentioning the change in her mental condition and forgetfulness.  He also testified she consumed alcohol for pain.

39. Mr. Gast testified Ms. Gast was under a great deal of stress during this time for several reasons, namely, her son was ill, she had lost her job, her relationship with him (her husband) was strained, and her increasing loss of function.

40. Ellen Wilson, RN, testified she had known Ms. Gast since July, 2001, and they became friends after July, 2002.
  She testified there was a change in Ms. Gast the last part of 2004 and then in 2005, as she previously was vivacious and fun-loving, but became depressed and at times confused.  Ms. Wilson testified she prepared the medication list attached to the claimant’s hearing brief using well-recognized drug references, in addition to Medline Plus, the online resource provided by the National Institutes of Health.  The drug list contains some of the medications Ms. Gast had been taking, the side effects of which in some cases could be constipation, paralytic ileus, gastritis, vasculitis, slowed or irregular breathing, depression, abdominal discomfort, clouded sensorium, sedation and somnolence.
  Ms. Wilson testified Ms. Gast was not her patient, and she did not know whether or not she experienced any of these side effects or whether or not Ms. Gast’s use of prescription drugs was excessive.

41. Robin Bumgardner testified she was a very close friend of Ms. Gast and since both had had injuries, they talked about surgery, medication reactions and recovery.
  She testified she had problems with constipation, which she had overcome.  She testified Metamucil helped Ms. Gast.  Ms. Bumgardner testified Ms. Gast had pain all over and continuously, and she had told Ms. Gast she should increase her medications.  She also testified Ms. Gast had changed in the last year before her death, and she was tired and couldn’t concentrate.  She further testified Ms. Gast’s abdomen was painful just prior to her hospitalization in August, 2005, but she did not know whether there was abdominal distension or not.

42. Based on the testimony of Mr. Gast, Ellen Wilson, and Robin Bumgardner, and the medical records, Ms. Gast was taking narcotic analgesics for pain and suffered from constipation.

43. The claimant’s attorney submitted an Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs on June 16, 2009, totaling $15,276.25 in attorney fees and paralegal costs, and $6,992.16 in other costs.
  On June 25, 2009, he submitted his Supplemental Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs, totaling $26,251.25 in attorney fees and paralegal costs, and $6,992.16 in other costs, for a grand total of $33,243.41.
PRINCIPLES OF LAW

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.

(a) Except as provided in (b) of this section, compensation or benefits are payable under this chapter for disability or death or the need for medical treatment of an employee if the disability or death of the employee or the employee's need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment. To establish a presumption under AS 23.30.120(a)(1) that the disability or death or the need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the employee must establish a causal link between the employment and the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. A presumption may be rebutted by a demonstration of substantial evidence that the death or disability or the need for medical treatment did not arise out of and in the course of the employment. When determining whether or not the death or disability or need for medical treatment arose out of and in the course of the employment, the board must evaluate the relative contribution of different causes of the disability or death or the need for medical treatment. Compensation or benefits under this chapter are payable for the disability or death or the need for medical treatment if, in relation to other causes, the employment is the substantial cause of the disability or death or need for medical treatment.

AS 23.30.395(17) provides in part:

“injury” means accidental injury or death arising out of and in the course of employment . . . .”

Doyon Universal Services v. Allen, 999 P.2d 764 (Alaska 2000) (Claimants are entitled to receive worker’s compensation when they have an injury “arising out of and in the course of their employment.”)  

Tolbert v. Alascom, 973 P.2d 603, 611-12 (Alaska 1999) (“Injuries that have both work-related and non-work-related causes are deemed compensable if the employer’s actions were a ‘substantial factor’ in causing the injury.”)


AS. 23.30.120

 (a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter; . . . .

An injured worker is afforded a presumption the benefits she seeks are compensable.
 

The Alaska Supreme Court held "the text of AS 23.30.120(a)(1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers' compensation statute."
  We utilize a three-step analysis when applying the presumption of compensability.
  

First, a claimant must establish a "preliminary link" between the claimed disability and the employment.  Evidence needed to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending upon the claim.  In claims based on highly technical medical considerations, medical evidence is often necessary to raise the presumption.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  A claimant need only adduce “some,” “minimal,” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between benefits sought and the employment injury,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of disability or impairment.
  The presumption of compensability continues during the course of a claimant’s recovery from the injury and disability.
  A pre-existing condition does not disqualify a claim if the employment aggravates, accelerates or combines with the pre-existing condition to produce the disability for which compensation is sought.”
  A substantial aggravation of an otherwise unrelated condition imposes full liability on the employer at the time of the most recent injury bearing a causal relation to the disability.
  
At this first stage in the analysis a witnesses’ credibility is not weighed.
  If it is found such relevant evidence at this threshold step exists, the presumption attaches to the claim.  If the presumption is raised and not rebutted, a claimant need produce no further evidence and a claimant prevails solely on the raised but un-rebutted presumption.
 

Second, once the preliminary link is established and the presumption has attached to the claim, the burden of production shifts to the employer.  At this second stage the employer is called upon to overcome the presumption by producing substantial evidence a claimant’s injury was not related to his or her employment.
  Substantial evidence is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.

There are two methods for an employer to overcome the presumption of compensability:  (1) present substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work related factors as a substantial cause of the claimant’s disability; or (2) directly eliminate all reasonable possibilities that work was a factor in causing the claimant’s disabling condition or need for treatment.
  Thus, to rebut the presumption, the employer must produce substantial evidence that either (1) non-work-related events alone caused a claimant’s worsened condition, or (2) there was no possibility that employment was a factor in causing the disability.
  "Since the presumption shifts only the burden of production and not the burden of persuasion,” the employer’s evidence is reviewed in isolation,
 deferring questions of credibility and weight until after determining whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption the claimant’s injury entitles him or her to the benefits sought.
  

An employer may rebut the presumption of compensability by presenting a qualified expert who testifies an injured worker’s work was probably not a substantial cause of the disability.
  However, medical evidence does not constitute substantial evidence if it simply points to other possible causes of an injured worker’s need for medical treatment or disability, without ruling out work-related causes.
  In determining whether the evidence offered is substantial the fact finder cannot abdicate its role by relying upon inconclusive medical evidence to overcome the presumption.
 Medical evidence based on speculation is not substantial evidence to rebut the presumption of compensability.
  A longstanding principle that must be included in the analysis is that inconclusive or doubtful medical testimony must be resolved in a claimant’s favor.
 

In the third step in the analysis, if the employer produces substantial evidence the injury is not work-related, the presumption of continuing compensability for the claimed benefit drops out, and a claimant must prove all elements of his or her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must induce a belief in the mind of the fact-finder that the asserted facts are probably true.
 Where, as here, the work injury occurred prior to the November 7, 2005 effective date of the 2005 amendments to the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, the claimed condition is compensable if the work injury was a substantial factor in bringing it about.
  The work is a substantial factor if:  (1) the condition would not have occurred at the time it did, in the way it did, or to the degree it did but for the work and (2) reasonable people would regard the work as a cause of the condition and attach responsibility to it.
  

AS 23.30.215. Compensation for death.

 (a) If the injury causes death, the compensation is known as a death benefit and is payable in the following amounts to or for the benefit of the following persons:

 (1) reasonable and necessary funeral expenses not exceeding $5,000;

 (2) if there is a widow or widower or a child or children of the deceased, the following percentages of the spendable weekly wages of the deceased:

(A) 80 percent for the widow or widower with no children;

[image: image1]
(B) 50 percent for the widow or widower with one child and 40 percent for the child;

(C) 30 percent for the widow or widower with two or more children and 70 percent divided equally among the children;

(D) 100 percent for an only child when there is no widow or widower;

 (E) 100 percent, divided equally, if there are two or more children and no widow or widower;

 (5) $5,000 to a surviving widow or widower, or equally divided among surviving children of the deceased if there is no widow or widower.

AS 23.30.122.  Credibility of witnesses.  

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions.  The findings of the board are subject to the same standard of review as a jury’s finding in a civil action.

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board. 

 (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . 

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a)  Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b)  If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured claimant in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that a claimant is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

ANALYSIS
I. Did Ms. Gast’s death arise out of or in the course of her employment?

Whether or not Ms. Gast’s death  “arose out of and in the course of her employment,” or was a naturally occurring consequence of her work-related injuries and their sequelae, is primarily a factual issue to which the §120 presumption analysis applies.  If her death had both work-related and non-work-related causes, the death would be deemed to have arisen out of and in the course of her employment if the work-related causes were a substantial factor in causing the death.  This is a medically complex case, for which expert medical testimony is ultimately required concerning causation.  However, in satisfying the threshold first step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, the claimant has raised the presumption Ms. Gast’s work injuries and the treatment for those work injuries are a substantial factor in causing her death, based on the reports and testimony of Dr. Blocher, who stated as much.

In addressing the second step of the presumption analysis, and without regard to credibility, Dr. Thompson’s EME report and hearing testimony, Dr. Hammerman’s SIME report, and Dr. Trummel’s autopsy report are substantial evidence to rebut the presumption and specifically provide alternate causes for Ms. Gast’s death, which, if accepted would exclude work-related factors as a substantial cause of the death.  Specifically, Dr. Thompson opined Ms. Gast’s death was caused by an undefined autoimmune or rheumatologic syndrome, not her work injuries.  Dr. Thompson acknowledged serologic studies were not diagnostic of an immune system abnormality, but maintained Ms. Gast’s “leucopenia, thrombosis of her left ring finger, and the diffuse visceral necrosis involving even the gall bladder, the visceral vascular necrosis of arterioles and venules” made an autoimmune etiology the most probable cause of death.  Dr. Hammerman opined that in the absence of arteriosclerotic disease or vasculitis, some embolic or low flow phenomenon would be the most likely explanation.  He also opined it was unlikely the pain medications masked her abdominal pain, causing her to delay seeking treatment, as the pain from a necrotic bowel is extreme.  In addition, Ms. Gast had been taking her medications for some time, and she had recently sought treatment for her chronic back and neck pain.  Dr. Trummel concluded the etiology for the catastrophic bowel necrosis was not clear.  
At the third stage of the presumption analysis, because the employer has rebutted the presumption, it drops out, and the claimant bears the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence and must induce a belief in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  The claimant must prove by a preponderance of the evidence Ms. Gast’s work injuries or the treatment for those injuries are a substantial factor in her death.  However, the claimant has failed to meet this burden.  At this third stage of the presumption analysis the credibility of witnesses, including medical experts, and what weight to give the evidence, is determined.  While Dr. Blocher’s reports and testimony are sufficient to raise the presumption, when the credibility of witnesses is not at issue, Dr. Blocher is ultimately not credible and his opinions are given little weight because he lacks expertise in internal medicine and the subspeciality of gastroenterology, and lacks experience in the practice of medicine and the actual care of patients.  

By contrast, both Dr. Thompson and Dr. Hammerman are credible and their reports are weighted more heavily, based upon their expertise in internal medicine and gastroenterology and their many years of experience in the practice of their specialties.  Dr. Hammerman’s SIME report and Dr. Thompson’s reports and testimony, all of which concluded the work injures and treatment for those work injures were not a substantial factor in causing Ms. Gast’s death, are relied upon.  In addition, Dr. Trummel’s autopsy report concluded the etiology of Ms. Gast’s bowel necrosis could not be determined.

Dr. Blocher’s first theory was that medications Ms. Gast was taking for the pain from her work injuries caused constipation and then impaction, which resulted in the ischemic bowel, peritonitis, and septic shock, which caused her death.  Dr. Blocher's testimony at hearing that no impaction was found at surgery because the impaction had dissipated when the bowel perforated was disputed by Dr. Thompson, who testified if an impaction had existed, it would have been visualized at surgery.  Dr. Thompson’s testimony concerning the lack of evidence of impaction at surgery specifically rules out narcotic-caused constipation and impaction as the cause of the necrotic bowel.  While Dr. Blocher gave the most definite opinion, that opinion was nevertheless not supported by the physical evidence found by the surgeons.  The instant case is distinguishable from the Alaska Supreme Court case Doyon Universal Services v. Allen (Allen).
  In Allen, the injured worker suffered a bowel obstruction in part caused by Brussels sprouts he had eaten at his remote work site.  Undigested Brussels sprouts were found in the intestine, and both parties’ medical experts expressed a belief the Brussels sprouts were a precipitating factor in Allen’s need for surgery.
  The Alaska Supreme Court affirmed the Board’s decision finding Allen’s injury arose in the course and scope of his employment and was a substantial factor in causing his disability.
  In the instant matter, no physical evidence supports Dr. Blocher’s opinion concerning impaction, and both the EME physician Dr. Thompson and the SIME physician Dr. Hammerman dispute Dr. Blocher’s opinion.

Dr. Blocher’s second theory that the narcotic pain medication Ms. Gast was taking for her work injuries masked her abdominal pain so that she delayed seeking timely treatment, was disputed by Dr. Hammerman for two reasons.  First, Dr. Hammerman opined the abdominal pain associated with a necrotic bowel is severe, and would not have been masked by Ms. Gast’s pain medications to the point where she would not seek timely treatment.  He also noted Ms. Gast regularly sought treatment for her chronic neck and back pain despite being on pain medications.  The record reflects Ms. Gast underwent a left shoulder MRI on August 11, 2005 for her left shoulder pain.  It is noted in Dr. Carlson’s death summary that in the ER Ms. Gast was given Narcan, and the abdominal pain was unmasked.  However, both Dr. Thompson and Dr. Hammerman reviewed the ER medical records and Dr. Carlson’s death summary, and yet both concluded Ms. Gast’s pain medications would not have masked her abdominal pain to the point she delayed seeking treatment.  In addition, there is no evidence in the record that even if there were a delay in seeking treatment, delay was responsible for the death.  

Therefore, the claimant failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence either Ms. Gast’s work injuries or the treatment received for those work injures was a substantial factor in causing her death.

II. Is the Claimant entitled to attorney fees and costs?

The claimant is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  Based on the above analysis, the claimant’s attorney has not successfully obtained death benefits for the claimant.  Therefore, no attorney fees or costs may be awarded.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
Ms. Gast’s death did not arise out of or in the course of her employment, and neither the work injuries for the treatment for them is a substantial factor in Ms. Gast’s death.  Therefore the claimant is not entitled to death benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.215.  

The claimant is not entitled to any attorney fees and costs.  


ORDERS
1. The claimant’s claim for death benefits is denied.

2. The claimant’s claim for attorney fees and costs is denied.



Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on December 4, 2009.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






Judith DeMarsh, Designated Chairperson






Don Gray, Member






____________________________________






Pat Vollendorf, Member

If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court. 

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of the ESTATE OF ANGIE M. GAST, claimant; v. STATE OF ALASKA, (Self-insured) employer, petitioner; ;Case No(s). 200317548, 199801358, 200115987; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Anchorage, Alaska, on December 4, 2009…
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� In Denuptiis v. Unocal Corp., 63 P.3d 272 (Alaska 2003), the Alaska Supreme Court held that, in the absence of any specific standard of proof, we must apply the preponderance of the evidence standard from the Alaska Administrative Procedure Act, AS 44.62.460(e).


� AIC Medical Clinic clinic note, 12/28/92.


� James Martin D.C.’s 12/6/95 clinic note.


� Mat-su Regional Hospital Medical Center Emergency Room Report, 1/25/98.


� Id.


� MRI report by William Roberts, M.D., 1/28/98.


� Physical Therapy Progress Report, 2/6/98.


� Dr. Werner’s consultation request, 2/24/98.


� Dr. James’ clinic note, 2/25/98.


� Id.


� Dr. James’ procedure note, 3/26/98.


� Dr. James’ clinic notes, 4/98, 5/98, 6/98 & 7/98.


� AMA Guides to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 4th Edition, 1995, American Medical Association Press.


� Dr. James’ clinic note 10/15/98.


� Workers’ Compensation Computer Database for Claimant.


� Dr. James clinic notes, 4/27, 5/8, 7/10, 10/4, 11/16, 2000; and 9/13 & 9/27/01; and 1/31, 4/3, 7/3, 10/14, 2002; and 2/14, 7/7, 7/11, 8/5, 8/11, 9/20, 12/22, 2003;  and 1/22, .


� Report of CT scan by Harold Cable, M.D. on 8/11/03.


� Dr. James’ clinic note, 9/23/03.


� Dr. James’ clinic note, 3/11/04.


� Id.


� Dr. Craig’s clinic note, 5/17/04.


� Id.


� Physician’s Report, 8/13/01.


� Dr. Kase’s operative report, 4/11/03.


� Dr. Kase’s clinic note, 8/13/03.


� Dr. Kase’s clinic note, 9/24/03.


� Dr. Kase’ clinic notes, 9-10/03 & 2-5/04.


� Dr. Gritzka’s EME Report, 8/26/04.


� Id.


� Claimant’s Hearing Brief, 3/17/08.


� Physician’s Report, 3/31/04.


� Dr. James’ letter, 4/27/04.


� Id.


� Id.


� Dr. Kase’s Operative Report, 12/7/04.


� PT Celia Terhaar’s Initial Evaluation, 12/20/04.


� Dr. Kase’s Operative Report, 7/12/05.


� PT Celia Terhaar’s Initial Evaluation, 7/25/05.


� Dr. Kase’s clinic note, 8/4/05.


� Dr. Kase’s prescription, 7/11/05.


� Percocet contains a narcotic analgesic.  www.drugs.com.


� Dr. Kase’s prescriptions, 7/18/05 & 7/27/05.  Vicodin contains a narcotic analgesic.  www.drugs.com.


� James McGee, M.D.’s left shoulder MRI report, 8/11/05.


� ER clinic note, 8/14/05.


� Obtunded means mentally dulled.  www.medterms.com.


� Protonix is used to treat acid reflux.  www.Protonix.com.


� Anexsia is Vicodin ES.  www.drugs.com.


� Flexeril is a muscle relaxant.  www.drugs.com.


� Cymbalta is an antidepressant.  www.drugs.com.


� Cozaar and Corgard are antihypertensives.  www.webmed.com.


� Lorazepam is an anxiolytic.  www.webmed.com.


� Hospital lab report, 8/14/05.


� Dr. Russi’s operative report, 8/14-15/05.


� Id.


� Dr. Russi’s operative report, 8/16/05.


� Id.


� Dr. Russi’s operative report, 8/18/05.


� Dr. Russi’s operative report, 8/25/05.


� Mathew Carlson, M.D.’s death summary, 10/17/05.


� Id.


� Dr. Trummel’s autopsy report, 8/29/05.


� Id.


� Valley Hospital ER clinic note, 12/9/04.


� David Werner, M.D., clinic note, 6/4/99 & Susan Lemagie, M.D.’s 6/21/99 letter to Dr. Werner.


� Id.


� Dr. Blocher’s 1/30/07 report.


� Dr. Blocher’s 2/16/07 report.


� Id.


� Dr. Blocher’s 5/16/07.report.


� Id.


� Id.


� Dr. Thompson’s 3/28/07 addendum to EME report.


� AS 23.30.122.


� Dr. Blocher’s hearing testimony and curriculum vitae.  


� Dr. Thompson’s 2/15/07 report.


� Dr. Thompson’s 2/15/07 EME report.


� Id.


� Dr. Thompson’s 3/28/07 addendum to EME report.


� Dr. Thompson’s 6/27/07 addendum to EME report.


� Id.


� Dr. Thompson’s hearing testimony and curriculum vitae (Exhibit 5, Claimant’s Hearing Brief).  


� AS 23.30.122.


� SIME report Dr. Kenneth Hammerman dated October 17, 2007.  SIME records 311-316


� Id.


� AS 23.30.122.


� Dr. Hammerman’s curriculum vitae, Exhibit 9, Claimant’s Hearing Brief.


� Ms. Wilson’s hearing testimony.


� Id., and Claimant’s Hearing Exhibit 2, consisting of a list of drugs and their potential adverse reactions.


� Ms. Wilson’s hearing testimony.


� Ms. Bumgardner’s hearing testimony.


� Id.


� Claimant’s Attorney’s Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs, 6/16/09.


� AS 23.30.120(a); Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Carter v. B & B Construction, Op. No. 4808, pp. 10-11 (Alaska, June 27, 2008.); Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d 471, 473-474 (Alaska 1991).


� Olson v. AIC/Martin J.V., 818 P.2d 669, 675 (Alaska 1991).  See also, Cheeks v. Wismer, 742 P.2d 239 (Alaska 1987).


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Peek  v. SKW/Clinton, 855 P.2d 415, 416 (Alaska 1993); 5 A. Larson & L. Larson, Larson’s Workers' Compensation   Law, § 90.01 (2005).
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� Resler v. Universal Services Inc., 778 P.2d 1146, 1148-49 (Alaska 1989); Hoover v. Westbrook, AWCB Decision No.  97-0221 (November 3, 1997), and Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).  


� Williams v. State, 938 P.2d 1065 (Alaska 1997).


� Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991) (quoting Burgess Construction, 623 P.2d at 316).  See also, Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611-612 (Alaska 1999); Miller at 1046.


�Carter v. B & B Construction, 199 P.3d 1150, 1156 (Alaska 2008); DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90, 96 (Alaska 2000); Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Compensation Board, 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Deyonge at 96 (citing Wolfer at 72).


� VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 869 (Alaska 1985).


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941, 942 (Alaska 1992).


� Tolbert v. Alascom, Inc., 973 P.2d 603, 611-612 (Alaska 1999);Carter at 15; Grainger at  977.


� Black v. Universal Services, Inc., 627 P.2d 1073 (Alaska 1981).


� Wollaston v. Schroeder Cutting, Inc. 42 P.3d 1065, 1066 (Alaska 2002).


� Land & Marine Rental Co. v. Rawls, 686 P. 2d 1187, 1190 (Alaska 1984).  See also, Kessick v. Alyeska Pipeline Service Co., 617 P.2d  755, 758 (Alaska 1980); Miller at 1049; Beauchamp v. Employers Liability Assurance Co., 477 P.2d 933, 996-7 (Alaska 1970).


� Koons, at 1381.


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� Burgess, 623 P.2d at 317.  


� Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533 (Alaska 1987).


� 53 P.3d 134,147 (Alaska 2002).


� Doyon Universal Services v. Allen, 999 P.2d 764 (Alaska 2000).
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